



**September 30, 2015**

Memorandum

To: Members of the Board

From: Melissa L. Batchelor, Assistant Director

*Wendy M. Payne*

Through: Wendy M. Payne, Executive Director

Subj: DoD Implementation Guidance Request- **Tab B1**<sup>1</sup>

### **MEETING OBJECTIVES**

The objective of this session is to approve Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards 48, entitled *Opening Balances for Inventory, Operating Materials and Supplies, and Stockpile Materials*.

### **BRIEFING MATERIAL**

The staff summary of changes to the ballot follows. You may electronically access all of the briefing material at <http://www.fasab.gov/board-activities/meeting/briefing-materials/>.

**Attachment A—Ballot marked version, *Opening Balances for Inventory, Operating Materials and Supplies, and Stockpile Materials***

**Attachment B—Clean version, *Opening Balances for Inventory, Operating Materials and Supplies, and Stockpile Materials***

**Attachment C—Appendix D: Amendments to SFFAS 3**

**Attachment D—Ballot Form for SFFAS 48**

---

<sup>1</sup> The staff prepares Board meeting materials to facilitate discussion of issues at the Board meeting. This material is presented for discussion purposes only; it is not intended to reflect authoritative views of the FASAB or its staff. Official positions of the FASAB are determined only after extensive due process and deliberations.

## **BACKGROUND**

At the August 2015 meeting, the Board requested that staff move to a pre-ballot of the draft statement and continue due process. Staff provided the Board with a pre-ballot and incorporated member comments into the attached ballot for your approval. Please see the staff analysis for a discussion of the comments.

## **STAFF ANALYSIS**

As noted, at the August 2015 meeting, the Board requested that staff move to a pre-ballot of the draft statement and continue due process until the Statement was issued.

Staff provided the Board with a pre-ballot in September 2015. Several comments and small edits were received from members that are included in the attached ballot. Most notably, much additional language was added to the basis for conclusions to clarify certain matters that will hopefully assist with implementation in the future and answer questions that may come up. While staff does not see it as a technical change to the Statement (since it does not impose new requirements and simply provides explanation that will assist users in the Basis for Conclusions) staff believed the Statement could still move to a ballot.

However, staff believed it prudent to offer additional time for Board members to review the ballot, ask questions and raise any concerns. Therefore, there is additional time included in the ballot due dates. The dates correspond to the Board meeting date. We have also allowed a short agenda time to discuss any questions that may need the full Board's attention.

Members will note the edits included in the ballot include:

- Removed certain language that was not necessary or that may be considered inconsistent and revising accordingly. (see Intro par. 2)
- Removed language explaining to which entities the Statement doesn't apply. Included language consistent with wording to which reporting entities it does apply and clarified directly what section of SFFAS 21: *Reporting Corrections of Errors and Changes in Accounting Principles* applies to those entities that elect to apply SFFAS 48. (see Scope par. 6)
- Also updated paragraphs in the Basis for Conclusions to provide a more detailed explanation of the applicability of SFFAS 21 and the effect on financial statements. (see pars. A11-A12)
- Updated the letter count and other appropriate areas in the Basis for Conclusions for the Grant Thornton comment letter received.
- Added clarification regarding different types of assertions. (see par. A19)
- Reiterated importance of being prepared for the assertion and the potential consequences if not in compliance when the assertion is made. (see par. A31)

- Corresponding edits were made to SFFAS 3 amendments in SFFAS 48 and Appendix D.
- Minor staff edits for consistency or other clarifications.

Staff would appreciate members notifying them of any concerns or comments prior to the meeting so that any issues can be resolved and all ballots collected prior to or at the October 2015 meeting.

## **NEXT STEPS**

After the approval, the Statement will be forwarded to the sponsors for review. It is anticipated the Statement will be issued by the end of January 2016.

## **MEMBER FEEDBACK**

Please contact me as soon as possible to convey your questions or suggestions. Communication before the meeting will help make the meeting more productive. You can contact me by telephone at 202-512-5976 or by e-mail at [batchelorm@fasab.gov](mailto:batchelorm@fasab.gov) with a cc to [paynew@fasab.gov](mailto:paynew@fasab.gov).



Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board

---

OPENING BALANCES FOR  
INVENTORY, OPERATING  
MATERIALS AND SUPPLIES, AND  
STOCKPILE MATERIALS

Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards 48

December ~~January~~ 2009, 20156

## THE FEDERAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ADVISORY BOARD

The Secretary of the Treasury, the Director of the Office of Management and Budget (OMB), and the Comptroller General, established the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB or "the Board") in October 1990. FASAB is responsible for promulgating accounting standards for the United States Government. These standards are recognized as generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for the federal government.

An accounting standard is typically formulated initially as a proposal after considering the financial and budgetary information needs of citizens (including the news media, state and local legislators, analysts from private firms, academe, and elsewhere), Congress, federal executives, federal program managers, and other users of federal financial information. The proposed standards are published in an Exposure Draft for public comment. In some cases, a discussion memorandum, invitation for comment, or preliminary views document may be published before an exposure draft is published on a specific topic. A public hearing is sometimes held to receive oral comments in addition to written comments. The Board considers comments and decides whether to adopt the proposed standard with or without modification. After review by the three officials who sponsor FASAB, the Board publishes adopted standards in a Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards. The Board follows a similar process for Statements of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts, which guide the Board in developing accounting standards and formulating the framework for federal accounting and reporting.

Additional background information is available from the FASAB or its website:

- ["Memorandum of Understanding among the Government Accountability Office, the Department of the Treasury, and the Office of Management and Budget, on Federal Government Accounting Standards and a Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board."](#)
- ["Mission Statement: Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board"](#), [exposure drafts](#), [Statements of Federal Financial Accounting Standards and Concepts](#), [FASAB newsletters](#), and other items of interest are posted on FASAB's website at [www.fasab.gov](http://www.fasab.gov).

### Copyright Information

This is a work of the U. S. government and is not subject to copyright protection in the United States. It may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without further permission from FASAB. However, because this work may contain copyrighted images or other material, permission from the copyright holder may be necessary if you wish to reproduce this material separately.

### Contact us:

Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board  
441 G Street, NW, Suite 6814  
Mail stop 6H19  
Washington, DC 20548  
Telephone 202-512-7350  
FAX – 202-512-7366  
[www.fasab.gov](http://www.fasab.gov)

## SUMMARY

---

This Statement permits a reporting entity to apply an alternative valuation method in establishing opening balances for inventory, operating materials and supplies, and stockpile materials. This method is permitted when presenting financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, following generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) promulgated by the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board either (1) for the first-time or (2) after a period during which existing systems could not provide the information necessary for producing such GAAP-based financial statements without use of the alternative valuation method.

This Statement is intended to provide an alternative valuation ~~approach-method~~ to adoption of GAAP when historical records and systems do not provide a basis for valuation of opening balances in accordance with SFFAS 3, *Accounting for Inventory and Related Property*.

**Comment [MB1]:** Consistency in language with use of the term 'method'

---

---

TABLE OF CONTENTS

---

---

<b>Summary</b> .....	<b>1</b>
<b>Introduction</b> .....	<b>3</b>
Purpose.....	3
Materiality .....	3
<b>Standards</b> .....	<b><u>54</u></b>
Scope .....	<b><u>54</u></b>
Definitions .....	<b><u>54</u></b>
Alternative Valuation Method for Opening Balances .....	<b><u>64</u></b>
Disclosure Requirements.....	<b><u>65</u></b>
Effect on Existing Standards- Amendments to SFFAS 3, <i>Accounting for Inventory and Related Property</i> .....	<b><u>75</u></b>
Effective Date .....	<b><u>98</u></b>
<b>Appendix A: Basis for Conclusions</b> .....	<b><u>109</u></b>
Project History .....	<b><u>109</u></b>
Summary of Outreach efforts and Responses.....	<b><u>1140</u></b>
Alternative Valuation Method .....	<b><u>1443</u></b>
Disclosure Requirements.....	<b><u>1645</u></b>
Board Approval .....	<b><u>1645</u></b>
<b>Appendix B: Abbreviations</b> .....	<b><u>1716</u></b>
<b>Appendix C: Glossary</b> .....	<b><u>1817</u></b>
<b>Appendix D: Amendments to SFFAS 3</b> .....	<b><u>1948</u></b>

## INTRODUCTION

### PURPOSE

1. This Statement permits a reporting entity to apply an alternative valuation method in establishing opening balances for inventory, operating materials and supplies (OM&S), and stockpile materials. These assets are addressed in Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) 3, *Accounting for Inventory and Related Property*. While SFFAS 3 addresses six types of tangible property, only inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials are required to be valued using the "initial amount" measurement approach.<sup>1</sup>
2. ~~While SFFAS 3 addresses six types of tangible property, only inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials are required to be valued using the "initial amount" measurement approach.~~<sup>2</sup> ~~An opening balance consistent with this requirement may not be available when a reporting entity begins presenting financial statements or one or more line items addressed by this Statement following generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) promulgated by the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board. This Statement is intended to provide an alternative valuation approach to adoption of GAAP when historical records and systems do not provide a basis for valuation of opening balances in accordance with SFFAS 3. The alternative valuation method permitted by this Statement may be applied when a reporting entity is presenting financial statements or one or more line items addressed by this Statement following generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) promulgated by the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) either (1) for the first-time or (2) after a period during which existing systems could not provide the information necessary for producing such GAAP-based financial statements without use of the alternative valuation method.~~

**Comment [MB2]:** Revisions based on RD comment that 2<sup>nd</sup> sentence was not necessary and par. Should be similar to par. 4.

### MATERIALITY

3. The provisions of this Statement need not be applied to immaterial items. The determination of whether an item is material depends on the degree to which omitting or misstating

<sup>1</sup> The measurement approach is how an asset or liability is measured in periods after initial recording—i.e., at the historical cost or initial transaction amount (with subsequent adjustments for amortization, depreciation, or depletion, if applicable) or at an amount, such as fair value, measured at each financial statement date. A different measurement approach may be appropriate for different assets and liabilities. Amounts initially recorded are referred to as the "initial amount" and amounts measured at each subsequent financial statement date are "remeasured amounts." [Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts (SFFAC) 7, *Measurement of the Elements of Accrual-Basis Financial Statements in Periods After Initial Recording*, par. 7a]

<sup>2</sup> ~~The measurement approach is how an asset or liability is measured in periods after initial recording—i.e., at the historical cost or initial transaction amount (with subsequent adjustments for amortization, depreciation, or depletion, if applicable) or at an amount, such as fair value, measured at each financial statement date. A different measurement approach may be appropriate for different assets and liabilities. Amounts initially recorded are referred to as the "initial amount" and amounts measured at each subsequent financial statement date are "remeasured amounts." [Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts (SFFAC) 7, *Measurement of the Elements of Accrual-Basis Financial Statements in Periods After Initial Recording*, par. 7a]~~



information about the item makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable person relying on the information would have been changed or influenced by the omission or the misstatement.

## STANDARDS

### SCOPE

4. This Statement applies when a reporting entity is presenting financial statements or one or more line items addressed by this Statement following generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) promulgated by the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) either (1) for the first-time or (2) after a period during which existing systems could not provide the information necessary for producing such GAAP-based financial statements without use of the alternative valuation method. The application of this Statement based on the second condition is available once per reporting entity.
5. This Statement may only be applied in establishing **opening balances**<sup>3</sup> for the reporting period that the reporting entity, taken as a whole, makes an **unreserved assertion** that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP.

~~6. This Statement does not apply to changes in accounting principles made by a reporting entity that already applies GAAP promulgated by FASAB. Such changes Reporting entities that meet either condition in paragraph 4 and elect to apply the alternative valuation method in establishing opening balances permitted by this Statement are the subject of: to the reporting requirements under paragraph 13~~

~~a.6. **Requirements** of Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) 21: *Reporting Corrections of Errors and Changes in Accounting Principles*; and~~

~~b. **Specific transitional requirements in other SFFASs. The transitional provisions or implementation guidance in other SFFASs apply only to changes made by a reporting entity that already applies GAAP as established by the FASAB.**~~

**Comment [MB3]:** Sentence is not necessary because par. 4 provides the scope of reporting entities that Statement applies. It is not necessary (or typical) to say which entities it doesn't apply. Changed wording to be refer to par. 4 and to reporting entities that this applies. Also clarified directly what section of SFFAS 21 applies

**Formatted**

### DEFINITIONS

7. **Deemed Cost**—Amount used as a surrogate for initial amounts that otherwise would be required to establish opening balances.
8. **Opening Balances**—Account balances that exist at the beginning of the reporting period. Opening balances are based upon the closing balances of the prior period and reflect the effects of transactions and events of prior periods and accounting policies applied in the prior period. Opening balances also include matters requiring disclosure that existed at the beginning of the period, such as contingencies and commitments.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>3</sup> Terms defined in the Glossary are shown in bold-face the first time they appear.

<sup>4</sup> Adopted from AU-C 510, *Opening Balances – Initial Audit Engagements, Including Reaudit Engagements* (AICPA Professional Standards).

9. **Unreserved Assertion**—An unconditional statement.

## ALTERNATIVE VALUATION METHOD FOR OPENING BALANCES

10. **Deemed cost** is an acceptable valuation method for opening balances of inventory, operating materials and supplies (OM&S), and stockpile materials for the reporting period ~~that when~~ the reporting entity makes an unreserved assertion that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP.

**Formatted:** Font: Bold

**Comment [MB4]:** SS suggestion

11. Because the reporting entity may have multiple component reporting entities using various valuation methods simultaneously, deemed cost should be based on one, ~~of~~ or a combination, of the following valuation methods:<sup>5</sup>

**Comment [MB5]:** MG suggestion

**Comment [MB6]:** MG suggestion to remove "any" from footnote

- a. Standard price (selling price)<sup>6</sup> or fair value<sup>7</sup>
- b. Latest Acquisition Cost (LAC) Method<sup>8</sup>
- c. Replacement cost<sup>9</sup>
- d. Estimated historical cost (initial amount)
- e. Actual historical cost (initial amount)

12. Once established using deemed cost, opening balances are to be considered consistent with GAAP. No distinction or breakout of the deemed cost amount in the opening balances is required.

## DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

13. A reporting entity electing to apply deemed cost in establishing opening balances for inventory, OM&S, or stockpile materials should disclose this fact and describe the method used in the first **reporting period** in which the reporting entity makes an unreserved assertion that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP. Financial statements, **or as applicable, reports on line items**, of subsequent periods need not repeat this disclosure unless the statements for which deemed cost was applied in establishing opening balances are presented for

**Comment [MB7]:** SS suggestion- Clarifies which period and responds to one of the comments about which periods.

**Comment [MB8]:** RD suggestion

<sup>5</sup> The methods are not listed in **any** order of preference.

<sup>6</sup> The latest known representative acquisition cost plus authorized cost recovery rate for each item of inventory and related property. This is established annually and is often referred to as selling price. Selling price and fair value may or may not be identical due to the intragovernmental nature of some sales.

<sup>7</sup> Fair value is the amount at which an asset or liability could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. (SFFAC 7, par. 38)

<sup>8</sup> The LAC Method provides that all like units that are held be valued at the invoice price of the most recent like item purchased, less any discounts, plus any additional costs incurred to bring the item to a form and location suitable for its intended use. *FASAB Handbook Glossary as of June 30, 2014*

<sup>9</sup> Replacement cost is the amount required for an entity to replace the remaining service potential of an existing asset in a current transaction at the reporting date, including the amount that the entity would receive from disposing of the asset at the end of its useful life. (SFFAC 7, par. 46)

comparative purposes. No disclosure of the distinction or breakout of amount of deemed cost of inventory, OM&S, or stockpile materials included in the opening balance is required.

## EFFECT ON EXISTING STANDARDS- AMENDMENTS TO SFFAS 3, ACCOUNTING FOR INVENTORY AND RELATED PROPERTY

---

14. This section amends SFFAS 3, *Accounting for Inventory and Related Property*, as described in the following paragraphs.
15. Paragraph 20 is replaced with the following paragraph: “**Valuation.** Inventory shall be valued at either (1) historical cost or (2) a method that reasonably approximates historical cost.”
16. Paragraph 22, the last sentence is amended by removing “(e.g., a standard cost system).”
17. Paragraphs 23-25 are rescinded to remove the term latest acquisition cost (LAC) from SFFAS 3 when used to mean that LAC that is equivalent to historical cost (inclusive of the valuation allowance).
18. Paragraph 26 is replaced by the following paragraph which expands the exception to valuation in SFFAS 3 to incorporate the Alternative Valuation Method for Opening Balances provided in this Statement.

### “26. Valuation Method for Opening Balances and Exceptions to Valuation.

- a. **Alternative Valuation Method for Opening Balances.**<sup>10</sup> Deemed cost<sup>11</sup> is an acceptable valuation method for opening balances of inventory, operating materials and supplies (OM&S), and stockpile materials when a reporting entity is presenting financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) 48, *Opening Balances for Inventory, Operating Materials and Supplies, and Stockpile Materials*, following generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) promulgated by the FASAB either (1) for the first-time or (2) after a period during which existing systems could not provide the information necessary for producing such GAAP-based financial statements without use of the alternative valuation method. The following should be considered in applying an alternative valuation method:
  - i. The alternative valuation method may only be applied in establishing opening balances for the reporting period that the reporting entity, taken as a whole, makes an unreserved assertion<sup>12</sup> that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by SFFAS 48, are presented fairly in

---

<sup>10</sup> Opening balances are account balances that exist at the beginning of the reporting period. Opening balances are based upon the closing balances of the prior period and reflect the effects of transactions and events of prior periods and accounting policies applied in the prior period. Opening balances also include matters requiring disclosure that existed at the beginning of the period, such as contingencies and commitments.

<sup>11</sup> Deemed cost is an amount used as a surrogate for initial amounts that otherwise would be required to establish opening balances.

<sup>12</sup> An unreserved assertion is an unconditional statement.

accordance with GAAP.

- ii. The application of this method based on the second condition specified above is available once per reporting entity.
- ~~iii. The use of the alternative valuation methodology does not apply to changes in accounting principles made by a reporting entity that already applies GAAP promulgated by FASAB. Such changes Reporting entities that meet either condition in paragraph 26a. and elect to apply the alternative valuation method in establishing opening balances permitted by SFFAS 48 are subject to the reporting requirements under the paragraph 13 of Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards 21: Reporting Corrections of Errors and Changes in Accounting Principles Requirements; and~~
- ~~iv. Specific transitional guidance in other SFFASs. The transitional provisions or implementation guidance in other SFFASs apply only to changes made by a reporting entity that already applies GAAP as established by FASAB.~~

~~v.iii. \_\_\_\_\_~~

- ~~vi.iv. \_\_\_\_\_~~ Because the reporting entity may have multiple component reporting entities using various valuation methods simultaneously, deemed cost should be based on one, ~~of~~ or a combination, of the following valuation methods:<sup>13</sup>
  - (1) Standard price (selling price)<sup>14</sup> or fair value<sup>15</sup>
  - (2) Latest Acquisition Cost (LAC) Method<sup>16</sup>
  - (3) Replacement cost<sup>17</sup>
  - (4) Estimated historical cost (initial amount)
  - (5) Actual historical cost (initial amount)

- ~~vii.v. \_\_\_\_\_~~ Disclosure requirements—A reporting entity electing to apply deemed cost in establishing opening balances for inventory, OM&S, or stockpile materials should disclose this fact and describe the method used in the first reporting period in which the reporting entity makes an unreserved assertion that its financial statements, or one or more line items are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP. Financial statements, or as applicable, reports on line items, of subsequent periods need not repeat this disclosure unless the statements for which deemed cost was applied in establishing opening balances are presented for comparative purposes. No disclosure of the

**Comment [MB9]:** Changes made to be consistent with par. 6. Wording slightly different because this will go in SFAS 3.

**Comment [MB10]:** Consistent changes with par. 11 MG suggestion.

**Comment [MB11]:** Same change as par. 23. SS suggestion.

**Comment [MB12]:** Same change as par. 13. RD suggestion

<sup>13</sup> The methods are not listed in any order of preference.

<sup>14</sup> The latest known representative acquisition cost plus authorized cost recovery rate for each item of inventory and related property. This is established annually and is often referred to as selling price. Selling price and fair value may or may not be identical due to the intragovernmental nature of some sales.

<sup>15</sup> Fair value is the amount at which an asset or liability could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. (SFFAC 7, par. 38)

<sup>16</sup> The LAC Method provides that all like units that are held be valued at the invoice price of the most recent like item purchased, less any discounts, plus any additional costs incurred to bring the item to a form and location suitable for its intended use. *FASAB Handbook Glossary as of June 30, 2014*

<sup>17</sup> Replacement cost is the amount required for an entity to replace the remaining service potential of an existing asset in a current transaction at the reporting date, including the amount that the entity would receive from disposing of the asset at the end of its useful life. (SFFAC 7, par. 46)

distinction or breakout of amount of deemed cost of inventory, OM&S, or stockpile materials included in the opening balance is required.

- b. **Exceptions to Valuation.** An exception for reporting inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials at net realizable value is available for agricultural, mineral, and other products (e.g. petroleum) with all the following criteria:
  - i. Units of which are interchangeable,
  - ii. Units of which have immediate marketability,
  - iii. Units for which appropriate costs may be difficult to obtain.”

19. Paragraph 42 is amended by adding the following after historical cost “or on a basis that reasonably approximates historical cost. The provisions of paragraph 26, Alternative Valuation Method for Opening Balances, extend to Operating Material and Supplies.”

20. Paragraph 44 is amended by deleting the last sentence: “In addition, any other valuation method may be used if the results reasonably approximate those of one of the above historical cost methods (e.g., a standard cost or latest acquisition cost system).”

21. Paragraph 53, the first sentence is amended by adding the following after historical cost “or on a basis that reasonably approximates historical cost. The provisions of paragraph 26, Alternative Valuation Method for Opening Balances, extend to Stockpile Materials.” Paragraph 53 is also amended by deleting the last sentence: In addition, any other valuation method may be used if the results reasonably approximate those of one of the above historical cost methods (e.g., a standard cost or latest acquisition cost system).”

## EFFECTIVE DATE

---

22. This Statement is effective for periods beginning after September 30, 2016. Earlier implementation is encouraged.

The provisions of this Statement need not be applied to immaterial items.

## APPENDIX A: BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS

This appendix discusses some factors considered significant by Board members in reaching the conclusions in this Statement. It includes the reasons for accepting certain approaches and rejecting others. Individual members gave greater weight to some factors than to others. The standards enunciated in this Statement—not the material in this appendix—should govern the accounting for specific transactions, events, or conditions.

### PROJECT HISTORY

#### *Department of Defense Implementation Guidance Request Project*

- A1. In February 2014, the Department of Defense (DoD) identified several areas of concern for the Board's consideration. The Board agreed to undertake a project to address these areas by providing practical guidance within the framework of existing accounting standards and, where necessary, provide the appropriate guidance to address issues not addressed within the framework of existing accounting standards.
- A2. This Statement is related to the request for guidance on the use of reasonable baseline estimates on the valuation of ~~legacy~~ inventory, operating materials and supplies (OM&S), and stockpile materials ~~from non-GAAP legacy systems~~. Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) 3, *Accounting for Inventory and Related Property*, requires valuation at historical cost (initial amounts).
- A3. In the initial phase of the project, Board staff met with senior officials from DoD to develop a comprehensive list of inventory valuation methodologies in place and the status of implementation of an SFFAS 3 compliant system for each DoD component.
- A4. Based on the meetings and information provided it was determined that:
- Most DoD component legacy systems have valued inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials at latest acquisition cost or standard cost (selling price) rather than historical cost. These legacy systems do not maintain a record of the cost of previous purchases. Therefore, DoD does not have the data necessary for revaluing inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials at transition from a non-GAAP to a GAAP valuation (that is, historical cost).
  - DoD components transitioned from non-GAAP legacy systems to SFFAS 3 compliant systems at different times. While DoD has implemented systems that are SFFAS 3 compliant, it is difficult to determine at what point DoD inventory valuation using a historical cost methodology (for example, moving average cost) will be cleansed ~~(eliminated through turnover)~~ of non-GAAP values derived from legacy systems.
  - DoD components advised that they do not have the information to provide historical turnover rates for the purpose of identifying items that have turnover rates such that the non-GAAP valuation method used prior to the adoption of SFFAS 3 would approximate historical cost.
  - DoD does not have the information for revaluation and it is not practical or cost effective to develop models for revaluation.

**Comment [MB13]:** To address a comment from MG regarding legacy inventory.

**Comment [MB14]:** RD suggestion

## SUMMARY OF OUTREACH EFFORTS AND RESPONSES

- A5. The Exposure Draft (ED), *Opening Balances for Inventory, Operating Materials and Supplies (OM&S) and Stockpile Materials*, was issued on June 2, 2015 with comments requested by July 20, 2015.
- A6. Upon release of the ED, notices and press releases were provided to the FASAB email listserv, the Federal Register, FASAB News, the Journal of Accountancy, Association of Government Accountants Today, the CPA Journal, Government Executive, and the CPA Letter, the CFO Council, the Council of the Inspectors General on Integrity and Efficiency, and committees of professional associations generally commenting on exposure drafts in the past (for example, the Greater Washington Society of CPAs, Association of Government Accountants Financial Management Standards Board.)
- A7. This broad announcement was followed by direct mailings of the ED to the following relevant congressional committees:
- House Appropriations- Sub-Committee on Defense
  - House Committee on Armed Services
  - House Committee on Oversight and Government Reform
  - House Committee on the Budget
  - House Committee on Veterans' Affairs
  - Senate Appropriations- Sub-Committee on Defense
  - Senate Committee on Armed Services
  - Senate Committee on Finance
  - Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs
  - Senate Committee on the Budget
  - Senate Committee on Veterans' Affairs
- A8. The DoD also received the ED.
- A9. ~~Eleven~~ Twelve responses were received from preparers, auditors, and professional associations. All respondents (with the exception of one respondent that did not specify agreement or disagreement) agreed with the proposal. The respondents identified certain issues that could be clarified within the Statement or addressed in the Basis for conclusions.
- A10. The Board did not rely on the number in favor of or opposed to a given position. Information about the respondents' majority view is provided only as a means of summarizing the comments. The Board considered each response and weighed the merits of the points raised. The respondents' comments are summarized below.
- A11. Two respondents requested that aspects of the scope be clarified. After considering the comments, the Board considered options and decided to state consistently the conditions that entities must meet in order to apply the provisions of this Statement rather than attempting to describe the many conditions for which the Statement does not apply. Additionally, the Board believed it should address the applicability of Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) 21: *Reporting Corrections of Errors and Changes in Accounting Principles* to those reporting entities that meet the conditions and elect to apply the provisions of this Statement. Specifically, paragraph 12 states "...For the

**Comment [MB15]:** Update count due to receipt of an additional letter.

**Comment [MB16]:** To make clear that respondents agreed with proposal. SS suggestion.

**Comment [MB17]:** BfC language added to be consistent with par. 6 of the scope.



purposes of this standard, changes in accounting principles also include those occasioned by the adoption of new federal financial accounting standards.” Therefore, reporting entities meeting the conditions and electing to apply this Statement should follow the guidance in SFFAS 21 paragraph 13(a) – (c) for all changes in accounting principles:

“(a) The cumulative effect of the change on prior periods should be reported as a change in accounting principle.” The adjustment should be made to the beginning balance of cumulative results of operations in the statement of changes in net position for the period that the change is made.

(b) Prior period financial statements presented for comparative purposes should be presented as previously reported; and

(c) The nature of the changes in accounting principle and its effect on relevant balances should be disclosed in the current period. Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat the disclosure.”

A12. SFFAS 21 provides that the adjustment should be made to the beginning balance of cumulative results of operations in the statement of changes in net position for the period that the change is made. Thus, no change would be made to the ending net position of the previous year. The disclosures should be at a high level and explain that opening balances of a particular line item or group of line items were valued at deemed cost under this Statement, briefly describe deemed cost, and indicate the effect of adoption on beginning net position.

A11-A13. In addition, changes to the basis were made so it did not appear that references to DoD in the basis for conclusions were intended to limit the applicability of deemed cost. While the Statement resulted from a request from DoD, it may be applied to any reporting entity that falls within the scope of the Statement.

A12-A14. During due process, two respondents noted potential confusion due to the similarities between the valuation methods identified for use in arriving at deemed cost for opening balances and with methods identified for use in SFFAS 3. Respondents questioned how the alternative valuation method differs from other valuation methods which approximate historical cost such as latest acquisition cost. They asked whether methods that are allowable under SFFAS 3 should be removed because those would not be considered alternative methods.

A13-A15. The Board believes all reasonable methods should be allowed for opening balances. Therefore, the list of potential deemed cost methods remains expansive. This list includes historical cost because deemed cost may be a consolidation of amounts based on historical cost methods and other methods that do not approximate historical cost. Further, some respondents were confused by the references to latest acquisition cost. The Board’s intends that latest acquisition cost, without adjustment for unrealized holding gains and losses needed to approximate historical cost, be permitted under the deemed cost method; thus, this method was not a method that approximates historical cost as provided by SFFAS 3.

A14-A16. The Board believes that amending SFFAS 3 to incorporate the alternative valuation method approach for opening balances would clarify the intended application

**Formatted:** Indent: Left: 0.5", No bullets or numbering

**Formatted:** Indent: Left: 0", Hanging: 0.38"

**Comment [MB18]:** Consistency in language with use of the term 'method'

and address the concerns raised by respondents. Specifically, removing the term latest acquisition cost (LAC) from SFFAS 3 when used to mean that LAC ~~that~~ is equivalent to historical cost (inclusive of the valuation allowance) will avoid potential misunderstandings. The Board believes removing this discussion of LAC will prevent confusion regarding the use of LAC adjusted to approximate historical cost through an allowance for unrealized holding gains or losses as a deemed cost ~~approach method~~ (not adjusted to approximate historical cost) as provided in this Statement and LAC adjusted to approximate historical cost through an allowance for unrealized holding gains or losses. To assist users, the Board is providing Appendix D: Amendments to SFFAS 3, a marked version of the relevant sections (Inventory, Operating Materials and Supplies, ~~(OM&S)~~ and Stockpile Materials) of SFFAS 3.

**Comment [MB19]:** HS suggestion to make point clearer

~~A15-A17.~~ In addition, it was suggested the term “may” as used in paragraph 11 regarding the use of valuation methods presents an auditability challenge and respondents recommended it be changed to “should.” The Board’s intent was to be permissive regarding methods; however, after considering the suggestion that an unacceptable method could be used the language was changed. The Board still believes the standards should provide for all methods, including those that are allowable under SFFAS 3, because this provides flexibility and a cost-effective approach for large and complex organizations to include several valuation approaches methods to valuation because the reporting entity may have components using different ~~approaches methods~~ and/or adopting an approach methods permitted under SFFAS 3 at different times.

**Comment [MB20]:** Consistency in language with use of the term ‘method’

~~A16-A18.~~ In addition, ~~three four~~ respondents requested clarification on the disclosure requirements. Based on the comments, language was added to the disclosure paragraph to clarify that financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat this disclosure unless the statements to which deemed cost was applied in establishing opening balances are presented for comparative purposes. One respondent requested clarification on what is meant by first reporting period in relation to interim reporting. The first reporting period would be the first financial statement year end that an unreserved assertion is made. The Board does not believe this would include interim financial statements that presently are unaudited and do not include note disclosures. One respondent requested that the Board consider adding a requirement for the amount of the deemed cost to be disclosed. The Board considered carefully the disclosures that would provide the most meaningful information when developing the Statement. Considering the intent and purpose of this Statement, the Board does not believe such a disclosure would add sufficient value to warrant the significant effort and costs.

**Comment [MB21]:** Update based on receipt of additional comment letter

~~A17-A19.~~ During due process, ~~two three~~ respondents requested the term “unreserved assertion” be ~~added to the definitions defined~~. The Board revised the Statement to include a definition of the term in the definitions. Additionally, a respondent suggested that certain entities’ management (such as DoD) may be required to make assertions regarding its financial information. For example, management assertions that DoD financial statements are validated as ready for audit by not later than September 30, 2017. This Statement refers to an unreserved assertion that the reporting entity’s “financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP.” Other assertions – such as being ready for an audit - may or may not accompany such an assertion. Other minor changes were made to the Statement as suggested by respondents that improved the clarity of the document and terms.

**Comment [MB22]:** Update based on receipt of additional comment letter

**Comment [MB23]:** Text added in response to RD comment and GT comment letter.

## ALTERNATIVE VALUATION METHOD

---

### Consideration of Other Accounting Standards

~~A18-A20.~~ During deliberation on the project, the Board considered the recently issued International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) No. 33, *First Time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards*. The International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) reached several relevant conclusions with IPSAS No. 33:

- Use of deemed cost facilitates the introduction of IPSASs in a cost effective way.
- Multiple options for deemed cost are appropriate.
- The use of deemed cost should be restricted to those circumstances where reliable information about the historical cost of the asset is not available.
- Use of deemed cost does not affect fair presentation.

~~A19-A21.~~ The Board believes that it should take an approach similar to the IPSASB standard. Deemed cost is a surrogate for initial amounts and an acceptable valuation method for opening balances for inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials. Use of deemed cost is intended to provide a cost-effective approach to the adoption of SFFAS 3 where historical records and systems do not support such balances.

### Alternative Valuation Method for Opening Balances

~~A20-A22.~~ A reporting entity may use deemed cost as an alternative valuation method in establishing opening account balances for inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials addressed in SFFAS 3 for the reporting period that the reporting entity first makes an unreserved assertion that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP.

~~A24-A23.~~ This guidance is intended to provide a cost-effective approach to the adoption of SFFAS 3 where historical records and systems do not support such balances. Therefore, most often deemed cost will be based on the reporting entity's valuation method or system used for managing inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials prior to the adoption of SFFAS 3.

~~A22-A24.~~ Large and complex reporting entities such as DoD may have used a variety of valuation methods prior to the adoption of SFFAS 3. Therefore, this Statement allows for deemed cost to include several ~~valuation approaches methods to valuation~~ because the reporting entity may have components (1) using different ~~approaches methods~~ simultaneously and/or (2) adopting ~~an approach a method~~ permitted under SFFAS 3 at different times prior to establishing opening balances. Deemed cost may be one of or a combination of valuation methods. However, this Statement requires that the accounting for all activity after the opening balance is established comply with SFFAS 3.

**Comment [MB24]:** Consistency in language with use of the term 'method'

~~A23-A25.~~ Opening balances in this Statement are the balances at the beginning of the first reporting period when the entity makes an unreserved assertion that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are fairly presented in accordance with GAAP. Once established using deemed cost, opening balances are to be considered consistent with historical cost requirements of SFFAS 3.

~~A24-A26.~~ Opening balances, established by application of this Statement, should be included in ongoing inventory valuation methods as a surrogate for the initial amounts that would have existed had a GAAP valuation method been used. Further, no distinction or segregation of amounts arising from the opening balances is required. For example, cost of goods sold using deemed cost need not be distinguished from cost of goods sold at historical cost under a first-in first-out approach. The purpose of this Statement is to provide ~~a cost effective approach an~~ alternative valuation method for this specific situation. Absent a reliable record of transactions related to hundreds of thousands of individual types of inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials, acceptance of non-GAAP values at the transition point to SFFAS 3 compliant systems is the most cost-effective approach.

**Comment [MB25]:** To be consistent with change made to Summary, page 1

~~A25-A27.~~ However, all activity after the opening balances for inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials are established must comply with the recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure requirements in SFFAS 3.

### Implementation by Component Reporting Entities

~~A26-A28.~~ As stated above, complex reporting entities such as DoD may have used a variety of valuation methods prior to the adoption of SFFAS 3. Further, reporting entity components may have transitioned to an SFFAS 3 valuation method at different times; however, some components established balances for existing inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials at the time of transition using methods that were not in accord with SFFAS 3. Therefore, given the timing of the transition to an SFFAS 3 valuation methodology, opening balances for the reporting entity may be based on transitional values based on one of the other methods listed in paragraph 11 of this Statement and subsequent transactions consistent with SFFAS 3 methods. The result of combining these values is considered deemed cost.

~~A27-A29.~~ A component reporting entity that is in the process of implementing systems that are SFFAS 3 compliant is permitted to apply this Statement at the time it makes an unreserved assertion that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP. This Statement allows component reporting entities (for example, DoD components) to make the assertion at different times. The reporting entity may make the assertion after a sufficient number of components do so. This Statement considers the opening balances and subsequent transactions of these component reporting entities as deemed cost for the consolidated reporting entity when its assertion is made.

~~A28-A30.~~ Using the DoD example, certain DoD components may have transitioned at an earlier date to SFFAS 3 compliant systems; this allows them to assert independently of the larger DoD. DoD would make a DoD-wide assertion when a sufficient number of DoD components are compliant. While a DoD component's "deemed cost" opening balance might be earlier than the DoD-wide opening balance, the consolidation of the various

methods would be DoD's opening balance deemed cost at the beginning of the period DoD was able to make an unreserved assertion on its financial statements or one or more line items addressed by this Statement.

- A31.** Considering the flexibility allowed with the Statement, reporting entities should ensure they are ready to make an unreserved assertion that their financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are fairly presented prior to making the election since it may only be made once. **A** ~~C~~ complex entities should work with its components to ensure the most appropriate method allowed by this Statement is selected. Further, reporting entities should ensure issues such as supporting documentation **for opening balances established** are addressed and validated through sampling or other means, **including consideration of any audit findings or conclusion affecting the reliability of the valuation**, prior to making the unreserved assertion. **The importance of a reporting entity being prepared to make the unreserved assertion is critical because the election may only be made once. For example, if a reporting entity makes an unreserved assertion regarding the FY 2018 beginning balances, the reporting entity must be able to support the valuation, in all material respects. If the audit for FY 2018 determines that the valuation does not comply with the alternative valuation in all material respects, the reporting entity then would need to:**
- a. continue in subsequent years to correct or support the valuation as of the beginning of FY 2018, or**
  - a-b. accept a modified audit report until the reporting entity demonstrates compliance with SFFAS 3 (as amended), in all material respects.**

**Comment [MB26]:** RD suggestion

**Comment [MB27]:** RD suggestion if the entity receives a modified opinion and GT comment letter that recently arrived requested this to be addressed. The Board discussed in a Board meeting. Point is summarized here.

## DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

- ~~A29-A32.~~ The election to apply the provisions of this Statement (deemed cost in establishing opening balances for inventory, OM&S, or stockpile materials) should be disclosed in the financial statements in the first reporting period in which the reporting entity makes an unreserved assertion that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP. The reporting entity should also disclose a description of what valuation method(s) deemed cost is based on, but no disclosure of amounts valued at deemed cost is required.
- ~~A30-A33.~~ The Board discussed that, with **time**, the valuation of inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials will not be materially different than historical cost because the older inventory may be consumed. If reporting entities are able to document that turnover rates for inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials are such that the opening balance valuation is at historical cost, a reference to deemed cost would not be required. This **Statement**, however, does not impose a requirement that reporting entities engage in an effort to conclude that the use of deemed cost is no longer necessary.

**Comment [MB28]:** Inserted commas

## BOARD APPROVAL

- ~~A34-A34.~~ This Statement was approved [unanimously.] Written ballots are available for public inspection at the FASAB's offices.

## APPENDIX B: ABBREVIATIONS

---

DoD	Department of Defense
ED	Exposure draft
FASAB	Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board
GAAP	Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
IPSAS	International Public Sector Accounting Standards
IPSASB	International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board
LAC	Latest Acquisition Cost
OM&S	Operating materials and supplies
SFFAC	Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts
SFFAS	Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards

## APPENDIX C: GLOSSARY

---

**Deemed Cost**—Amount used as a surrogate for initial amounts that otherwise would be required to establish opening balances.

**Opening Balances**—Account balances that exist at the beginning of the reporting period. Opening balances are based upon the closing balances of the prior period and reflect the effects of transactions and events of prior periods and accounting policies applied in the prior period. Opening balances also include matters requiring disclosure that existed at the beginning of the period, such as contingencies and commitments.<sup>18</sup>

**Unreserved Assertion**—An unconditional statement.

---

<sup>18</sup> Adopted from AU-C 510, *Opening Balances – Initial Audit Engagements, Including Reaudit Engagements* (AICPA Professional Standards).

## APPENDIX D: AMENDMENTS TO SFFAS 3

---



**FASAB Board Members**

Tom L. Allen, Chair

Robert F. Dacey

Michael H. Granof

Christina Ho

Sam M. McCall

Mark Reger

D. Scott Showalter

Graylin E. Smith

Harold I. Steinberg

**FASAB Staff**

Wendy M. Payne, Executive Director

Melissa L. Batchelor

**Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board**

441 G Street NW, Suite 6814

Mail Stop 6H19

Washington, DC 20548

Telephone 202-512-7350

FAX 202-512-7366

[www.fasab.gov](http://www.fasab.gov)



Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board

---

OPENING BALANCES FOR  
INVENTORY, OPERATING  
MATERIALS AND SUPPLIES, AND  
STOCKPILE MATERIALS

**Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards 48**

January 29, 2016

## THE FEDERAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ADVISORY BOARD

The Secretary of the Treasury, the Director of the Office of Management and Budget (OMB), and the Comptroller General, established the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB or “the Board”) in October 1990. FASAB is responsible for promulgating accounting standards for the United States Government. These standards are recognized as generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for the federal government.

An accounting standard is typically formulated initially as a proposal after considering the financial and budgetary information needs of citizens (including the news media, state and local legislators, analysts from private firms, academe, and elsewhere), Congress, federal executives, federal program managers, and other users of federal financial information. The proposed standards are published in an Exposure Draft for public comment. In some cases, a discussion memorandum, invitation for comment, or preliminary views document may be published before an exposure draft is published on a specific topic. A public hearing is sometimes held to receive oral comments in addition to written comments. The Board considers comments and decides whether to adopt the proposed standard with or without modification. After review by the three officials who sponsor FASAB, the Board publishes adopted standards in a Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards. The Board follows a similar process for Statements of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts, which guide the Board in developing accounting standards and formulating the framework for federal accounting and reporting.

Additional background information is available from the FASAB or its website:

- [“Memorandum of Understanding among the Government Accountability Office, the Department of the Treasury, and the Office of Management and Budget, on Federal Government Accounting Standards and a Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board.”](#)
- [“Mission Statement: Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board”](#), [exposure drafts](#), [Statements of Federal Financial Accounting Standards and Concepts](#), [FASAB newsletters](#), and other items of interest are posted on FASAB’s website at [www.fasab.gov](http://www.fasab.gov).

### Copyright Information

This is a work of the U. S. government and is not subject to copyright protection in the United States. It may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without further permission from FASAB. However, because this work may contain copyrighted images or other material, permission from the copyright holder may be necessary if you wish to reproduce this material separately.

### Contact us:

Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board  
441 G Street, NW, Suite 6814  
Mail stop 6H19  
Washington, DC 20548  
Telephone 202-512-7350  
FAX – 202-512-7366  
[www.fasab.gov](http://www.fasab.gov)

## SUMMARY

---

This Statement permits a reporting entity to apply an alternative valuation method in establishing opening balances for inventory, operating materials and supplies, and stockpile materials. This method is permitted when presenting financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, following generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) promulgated by the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board either (1) for the first-time or (2) after a period during which existing systems could not provide the information necessary for producing such GAAP-based financial statements without use of the alternative valuation method.

This Statement is intended to provide an alternative valuation method to adoption of GAAP when historical records and systems do not provide a basis for valuation of opening balances in accordance with SFFAS 3, *Accounting for Inventory and Related Property*.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

---

<b>Summary</b> .....	<b>1</b>
<b>Introduction</b> .....	<b>3</b>
<b>Purpose</b> .....	<b>3</b>
<b>Materiality</b> .....	<b>3</b>
<b>Standards</b> .....	<b>4</b>
<b>Scope</b> .....	<b>4</b>
<b>Definitions</b> .....	<b>4</b>
<b>Alternative Valuation Method for Opening Balances</b> .....	<b>4</b>
<b>Disclosure Requirements</b> .....	<b>5</b>
<b>Effect on Existing Standards- Amendments to SFFAS 3, <i>Accounting for Inventory and Related Property</i></b> .....	<b>5</b>
<b>Effective Date</b> .....	<b>8</b>
<b>Appendix A: Basis for Conclusions</b> .....	<b>9</b>
<b>Project History</b> .....	<b>9</b>
<b>Summary of Outreach Efforts and Responses</b> .....	<b>10</b>
<b>Alternative Valuation Method</b> .....	<b>13</b>
<b>Disclosure Requirements</b> .....	<b>15</b>
<b>Board Approval</b> .....	<b>15</b>
<b>Appendix B: Abbreviations</b> .....	<b>16</b>
<b>Appendix C: Glossary</b> .....	<b>17</b>
<b>Appendix D: Amendments to SFFAS 3</b> .....	<b>18</b>

# INTRODUCTION

---

## PURPOSE

---

1. This Statement permits a reporting entity to apply an alternative valuation method in establishing opening balances for inventory, operating materials and supplies (OM&S), and stockpile materials. These assets are addressed in Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) 3, *Accounting for Inventory and Related Property*. While SFFAS 3 addresses six types of tangible property, only inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials are required to be valued using the “initial amount” measurement approach.<sup>1</sup>
2. The alternative valuation method permitted by this Statement may be applied when a reporting entity is presenting financial statements or one or more line items addressed by this Statement following generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) promulgated by the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) either (1) for the first-time or (2) after a period during which existing systems could not provide the information necessary for producing such GAAP-based financial statements without use of the alternative valuation method.

## MATERIALITY

---

3. The provisions of this Statement need not be applied to immaterial items. The determination of whether an item is material depends on the degree to which omitting or misstating information about the item makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable person relying on the information would have been changed or influenced by the omission or the misstatement.

---

<sup>1</sup> The *measurement approach* is how an asset or liability is measured in periods after initial recording—i.e., at the historical cost or initial transaction amount (with subsequent adjustments for amortization, depreciation, or depletion, if applicable) or at an amount, such as fair value, measured at each financial statement date. A different measurement approach may be appropriate for different assets and liabilities. Amounts initially recorded are referred to as the “initial amount” and amounts measured at each subsequent financial statement date are “remeasured amounts.” [Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts (SFFAC) 7, *Measurement of the Elements of Accrual-Basis Financial Statements in Periods After Initial Recording*, par. 7a]

## STANDARDS

---

### SCOPE

---

4. This Statement applies when a reporting entity is presenting financial statements or one or more line items addressed by this Statement following generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) promulgated by the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) either (1) for the first-time or (2) after a period during which existing systems could not provide the information necessary for producing such GAAP-based financial statements without use of the alternative valuation method. The application of this Statement based on the second condition is available once per reporting entity.
5. This Statement may only be applied in establishing **opening balances**<sup>2</sup> for the reporting period that the reporting entity, taken as a whole, makes an **unreserved assertion** that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP.
6. Reporting entities that meet either condition in paragraph 4 and elect to apply the alternative valuation method in establishing opening balances permitted by this Statement are subject to the reporting requirements under paragraph 13 of Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) 21: *Reporting Corrections of Errors and Changes in Accounting Principles*.

### DEFINITIONS

---

7. **Deemed Cost**—Amount used as a surrogate for initial amounts that otherwise would be required to establish opening balances.
8. **Opening Balances**—Account balances that exist at the beginning of the reporting period. Opening balances are based upon the closing balances of the prior period and reflect the effects of transactions and events of prior periods and accounting policies applied in the prior period. Opening balances also include matters requiring disclosure that existed at the beginning of the period, such as contingencies and commitments.<sup>3</sup>
9. **Unreserved Assertion**—An unconditional statement.

### ALTERNATIVE VALUATION METHOD FOR OPENING BALANCES

---

10. **Deemed cost** is an acceptable valuation method for opening balances of inventory, operating materials and supplies (OM&S), and stockpile materials for the reporting period when the reporting entity makes an unreserved assertion that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP.

---

<sup>2</sup> Terms defined in the Glossary are shown in bold-face the first time they appear.

<sup>3</sup> Adopted from AU-C 510, *Opening Balances – Initial Audit Engagements, Including Reaudit Engagements* (AICPA Professional Standards).

11. Because the reporting entity may have multiple component reporting entities using various valuation methods simultaneously, deemed cost should be based on one, or a combination, of the following valuation methods:<sup>4</sup>
- a. Standard price (selling price)<sup>5</sup> or fair value<sup>6</sup>
  - b. Latest Acquisition Cost (LAC) Method<sup>7</sup>
  - c. Replacement cost<sup>8</sup>
  - d. Estimated historical cost (initial amount)
  - e. Actual historical cost (initial amount)
12. Once established using deemed cost, opening balances are to be considered consistent with GAAP. No distinction or breakout of the deemed cost amount in the opening balances is required.

## DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

---

13. A reporting entity electing to apply deemed cost in establishing opening balances for inventory, OM&S, or stockpile materials should disclose this fact and describe the method used in the first reporting period in which the reporting entity makes an unreserved assertion that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP. Financial statements, or as applicable, reports on line items, of subsequent periods need not repeat this disclosure unless the statements for which deemed cost was applied in establishing opening balances are presented for comparative purposes. No disclosure of the distinction or breakout of amount of deemed cost of inventory, OM&S, or stockpile materials included in the opening balance is required.

## EFFECT ON EXISTING STANDARDS- AMENDMENTS TO SFFAS 3, *ACCOUNTING FOR INVENTORY AND RELATED PROPERTY*

---

14. This section amends SFFAS 3, *Accounting for Inventory and Related Property*, as described in the following paragraphs.
15. Paragraph 20 is replaced with the following paragraph: “**Valuation.** Inventory shall be valued at either (1) historical cost or (2) a method that reasonably approximates historical cost.”

---

<sup>4</sup> The methods are not listed in order of preference.

<sup>5</sup> The latest known representative acquisition cost plus authorized cost recovery rate for each item of inventory and related property. This is established annually and is often referred to as selling price. Selling price and fair value may or may not be identical due to the intragovernmental nature of some sales.

<sup>6</sup> Fair value is the amount at which an asset or liability could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. (SFFAC 7, par. 38)

<sup>7</sup> The LAC Method provides that all like units that are held be valued at the invoice price of the most recent like item purchased, less any discounts, plus any additional costs incurred to bring the item to a form and location suitable for its intended use. *FASAB Handbook Glossary as of June 30, 2014*

<sup>8</sup> Replacement cost is the amount required for an entity to replace the remaining service potential of an existing asset in a current transaction at the reporting date, including the amount that the entity would receive from disposing of the asset at the end of its useful life. (SFFAC 7, par. 46)



16. Paragraph 22, the last sentence is amended by removing “(e.g., a standard cost system).”
17. Paragraphs 23-25 are rescinded to remove the term latest acquisition cost (LAC) from SFFAS 3 when used to mean that LAC that is equivalent to historical cost (inclusive of the valuation allowance).
18. Paragraph 26 is replaced by the following paragraph which expands the exception to valuation in SFFAS 3 to incorporate the Alternative Valuation Method for Opening Balances provided in this Statement.

**“26. Valuation Method for Opening Balances and Exceptions to Valuation.**

- a. **Alternative Valuation Method for Opening Balances.**<sup>9</sup> Deemed cost<sup>10</sup> is an acceptable valuation method for opening balances of inventory, operating materials and supplies (OM&S), and stockpile materials when a reporting entity is presenting financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) 48, *Opening Balances for Inventory, Operating Materials and Supplies, and Stockpile Materials*, following generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) promulgated by the FASAB either (1) for the first-time or (2) after a period during which existing systems could not provide the information necessary for producing such GAAP-based financial statements without use of the alternative valuation method. The following should be considered in applying an alternative valuation method:
  - i. The alternative valuation method may only be applied in establishing opening balances for the reporting period that the reporting entity, taken as a whole, makes an unreserved assertion<sup>11</sup> that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by SFFAS 48, are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP.
  - ii. The application of this method based on the second condition specified above is available once per reporting entity.
  - iii. Reporting entities that meet either condition in paragraph 26a. and elect to apply the alternative valuation method in establishing opening balances permitted by SFFAS 48 are subject to the reporting requirements under paragraph 13 of Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards 21: *Reporting Corrections of Errors and Changes in Accounting Principles*.
  - iv. Because the reporting entity may have multiple component reporting entities using various valuation methods simultaneously, deemed cost should be based

---

<sup>9</sup> Opening balances are account balances that exist at the beginning of the reporting period. Opening balances are based upon the closing balances of the prior period and reflect the effects of transactions and events of prior periods and accounting policies applied in the prior period. Opening balances also include matters requiring disclosure that existed at the beginning of the period, such as contingencies and commitments.

<sup>10</sup> Deemed cost is an amount used as a surrogate for initial amounts that otherwise would be required to establish opening balances.

<sup>11</sup> An unreserved assertion is an unconditional statement.

on one, or a combination, of the following valuation methods:<sup>12</sup>

- (1) Standard price (selling price)<sup>13</sup> or fair value<sup>14</sup>
- (2) Latest Acquisition Cost (LAC) Method<sup>15</sup>
- (3) Replacement cost<sup>16</sup>
- (4) Estimated historical cost (initial amount)
- (5) Actual historical cost (initial amount)

v. Disclosure requirements—A reporting entity electing to apply deemed cost in establishing opening balances for inventory, OM&S, or stockpile materials should disclose this fact and describe the method used in the first reporting period in which the reporting entity makes an unreserved assertion that its financial statements, or one or more line items are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP. Financial statements, or as applicable, reports on line items, of subsequent periods need not repeat this disclosure unless the statements for which deemed cost was applied in establishing opening balances are presented for comparative purposes. No disclosure of the distinction or breakout of amount of deemed cost of inventory, OM&S, or stockpile materials included in the opening balance is required.

- b. **Exceptions to Valuation.** An exception for reporting inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials at net realizable value is available for agricultural, mineral, and other products (e.g. petroleum) with all the following criteria:
- i. Units of which are interchangeable,
  - ii. Units of which have immediate marketability,
  - iii. Units for which appropriate costs may be difficult to obtain.”

19. Paragraph 42 is amended by adding the following after historical cost “or on a basis that reasonably approximates historical cost. The provisions of paragraph 26, Alternative Valuation Method for Opening Balances, extend to Operating Material and Supplies.”

20. Paragraph 44 is amended by deleting the last sentence: “In addition, any other valuation method may be used if the results reasonably approximate those of one of the above historical cost methods (e.g., a standard cost or latest acquisition cost system).”

---

<sup>12</sup> The methods are not listed in order of preference.

<sup>13</sup> The latest known representative acquisition cost plus authorized cost recovery rate for each item of inventory and related property. This is established annually and is often referred to as selling price. Selling price and fair value may or may not be identical due to the intragovernmental nature of some sales.

<sup>14</sup> Fair value is the amount at which an asset or liability could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. (SFFAC 7, par. 38)

<sup>15</sup> The LAC Method provides that all like units that are held be valued at the invoice price of the most recent like item purchased, less any discounts, plus any additional costs incurred to bring the item to a form and location suitable for its intended use. *FASAB Handbook Glossary as of June 30, 2014*

<sup>16</sup> Replacement cost is the amount required for an entity to replace the remaining service potential of an existing asset in a current transaction at the reporting date, including the amount that the entity would receive from disposing of the asset at the end of its useful life. (SFFAC 7, par. 46)

21. Paragraph 53, the first sentence is amended by adding the following after historical cost “or on a basis that reasonably approximates historical cost. The provisions of paragraph 26, Alternative Valuation Method for Opening Balances, extend to Stockpile Materials.” Paragraph 53 is also amended by deleting the last sentence: In addition, any other valuation method may be used if the results reasonably approximate those of one of the above historical cost methods (e.g., a standard cost or latest acquisition cost system).”

## EFFECTIVE DATE

---

22. This Statement is effective for periods beginning after September 30, 2016. Earlier implementation is encouraged.

The provisions of this Statement need not be applied to immaterial items.

## APPENDIX A: BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS

---

This appendix discusses some factors considered significant by Board members in reaching the conclusions in this Statement. It includes the reasons for accepting certain approaches and rejecting others. Individual members gave greater weight to some factors than to others. The standards enunciated in this Statement—not the material in this appendix—should govern the accounting for specific transactions, events, or conditions.

### PROJECT HISTORY

---

#### *Department of Defense Implementation Guidance Request Project*

- A1. In February 2014, the Department of Defense (DoD) identified several areas of concern for the Board's consideration. The Board agreed to undertake a project to address these areas by providing practical guidance within the framework of existing accounting standards and, where necessary, provide the appropriate guidance to address issues not addressed within the framework of existing accounting standards.
- A2. This Statement is related to the request for guidance on the use of reasonable baseline estimates on the valuation of inventory, operating materials and supplies (OM&S), and stockpile materials from non-GAAP legacy systems. Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) 3, *Accounting for Inventory and Related Property*, requires valuation at historical cost (initial amounts).
- A3. In the initial phase of the project, Board staff met with senior officials from DoD to develop a comprehensive list of inventory valuation methodologies in place and the status of implementation of an SFFAS 3 compliant system for each DoD component.
- A4. Based on the meetings and information provided it was determined that:
  - a. Most DoD component legacy systems have valued inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials at latest acquisition cost or standard cost (selling price) rather than historical cost. These legacy systems do not maintain a record of the cost of previous purchases. Therefore, DoD does not have the data necessary for revaluing inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials at transition from a non-GAAP to a GAAP valuation (that is, historical cost).
  - b. DoD components transitioned from non-GAAP legacy systems to SFFAS 3 compliant systems at different times. While DoD has implemented systems that are SFFAS 3 compliant, it is difficult to determine at what point DoD inventory valuation using a historical cost methodology (for example, moving average cost) will be cleansed (eliminated through turnover) of non-GAAP values derived from legacy systems.
  - c. DoD components advised that they do not have the information to provide historical turnover rates for the purpose of identifying items that have turnover rates such that the non-GAAP valuation method used prior to the adoption of SFFAS 3 would approximate historical cost.
  - d. DoD does not have the information for revaluation and it is not practical or cost effective to develop models for revaluation.

## SUMMARY OF OUTREACH EFFORTS AND RESPONSES

---

- A5. The Exposure Draft (ED), *Opening Balances for Inventory, Operating Materials and Supplies (OM&S) and Stockpile Materials*, was issued on June 2, 2015 with comments requested by July 20, 2015.
- A6. Upon release of the ED, notices and press releases were provided to the FASAB email listserv, the Federal Register, FASAB News, the Journal of Accountancy, Association of Government Accountants Today, the CPA Journal, Government Executive, and the CPA Letter, the CFO Council, the Council of the Inspectors General on Integrity and Efficiency, and committees of professional associations generally commenting on exposure drafts in the past (for example, the Greater Washington Society of CPAs, Association of Government Accountants Financial Management Standards Board.)
- A7. This broad announcement was followed by direct mailings of the ED to the following relevant congressional committees:
- a. House Appropriations- Sub-Committee on Defense
  - b. House Committee on Armed Services
  - c. House Committee on Oversight and Government Reform
  - d. House Committee on the Budget
  - e. House Committee on Veterans' Affairs
  - f. Senate Appropriations- Sub-Committee on Defense
  - g. Senate Committee on Armed Services
  - h. Senate Committee on Finance
  - i. Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs
  - j. Senate Committee on the Budget
  - k. Senate Committee on Veterans' Affairs
- A8. The DoD also received the ED.
- A9. Twelve responses were received from preparers, auditors, and professional associations. All respondents (with the exception of one respondent that did not specify agreement or disagreement) agreed with the proposal. The respondents identified certain issues that could be clarified within the Statement or addressed in the Basis for conclusions.
- A10. The Board did not rely on the number in favor of or opposed to a given position. Information about the respondents' majority view is provided only as a means of summarizing the comments. The Board considered each response and weighed the merits of the points raised. The respondents' comments are summarized below.
- A11. Two respondents requested that aspects of the scope be clarified. After considering the comments, the Board considered options and decided to state consistently the conditions that entities must meet in order to apply the provisions of this Statement rather than attempting to describe the many conditions for which the Statement does not apply. Additionally, the Board believed it should address the applicability of Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) 21: *Reporting Corrections of Errors and Changes in Accounting Principles* to those reporting entities that meet the conditions and elect to apply the provisions of this Statement. Specifically, paragraph 12 states "...For the purposes of this standard, changes in accounting principles also include those occasioned

by the adoption of new federal financial accounting standards.” Therefore, reporting entities meeting the conditions and electing to apply this Statement should follow the guidance in SFFAS 21 paragraph 13(a) – (c) for all changes in accounting principles:

“(a) The cumulative effect of the change on prior periods should be reported as a “change in accounting principle.” The adjustment should be made to the beginning balance of cumulative results of operations in the statement of changes in net position for the period that the change is made.

(b) Prior period financial statements presented for comparative purposes should be presented as previously reported; and

(c) The nature of the changes in accounting principle and its effect on relevant balances should be disclosed in the current period. Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat the disclosure.”

- A12. SFFAS 21 provides that the adjustment should be made to the beginning balance of cumulative results of operations in the statement of changes in net position for the period that the change is made. Thus, no change would be made to the ending net position of the previous year. The disclosures should be at a high level and explain that opening balances of a particular line item or group of line items were valued at deemed cost under this Statement, briefly describe deemed cost, and indicate the effect of adoption on beginning net position.
- A13. In addition, changes to the basis were made so it did not appear that references to DoD in the basis for conclusions were intended to limit the applicability of deemed cost. While the Statement resulted from a request from DoD, it may be applied to any reporting entity that falls within the scope of the Statement.
- A14. During due process, two respondents noted potential confusion due to the similarities between the valuation methods identified for use in arriving at deemed cost for opening balances and with methods identified for use in SFFAS 3. Respondents questioned how the alternative valuation method differs from other valuation methods which approximate historical cost such as latest acquisition cost. They asked whether methods that are allowable under SFFAS 3 should be removed because those would not be considered alternative methods.
- A15. The Board believes all reasonable methods should be allowed for opening balances. Therefore, the list of potential deemed cost methods remains expansive. This list includes historical cost because deemed cost may be a consolidation of amounts based on historical cost methods and other methods that do not approximate historical cost. Further, some respondents were confused by the references to latest acquisition cost. The Board’s intends that latest acquisition cost, without adjustment for unrealized holding gains and losses needed to approximate historical cost, be permitted under the deemed cost method; thus, this method was not a method that approximates historical cost as provided by SFFAS 3.
- A16. The Board believes that amending SFFAS 3 to incorporate the alternative valuation approach for opening balances would clarify the intended application and address the concerns raised by respondents. Specifically, removing the term latest acquisition cost

(LAC) from SFFAS 3 when used to mean that LAC is equivalent to historical cost (inclusive of the valuation allowance) will avoid potential misunderstandings. The Board believes removing this discussion of LAC will prevent confusion regarding the use of LAC adjusted to approximate historical cost through an allowance for unrealized holding gains or losses as a deemed cost method (not adjusted to approximate historical cost) as provided in this Statement. To assist users, the Board is providing Appendix D: Amendments to SFFAS 3, a marked version of the relevant sections (Inventory, Operating Materials and Supplies, and Stockpile Materials) of SFFAS 3.

- A17. In addition, it was suggested the term “may” as used in paragraph 11 regarding the use of valuation methods presents an auditability challenge and respondents recommended it be changed to “should.” The Board’s intent was to be permissive regarding methods; however, after considering the suggestion that an unacceptable method could be used the language was changed. The Board still believes the standards should provide for all methods, including those that are allowable under SFFAS 3, because this provides flexibility and a cost-effective approach for large and complex organizations to include several valuation methods because the reporting entity may have components using different methods and/or adopting methods permitted under SFFAS 3 at different times.
- A18. In addition, four respondents requested clarification on the disclosure requirements. Based on the comments, language was added to the disclosure paragraph to clarify that financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat this disclosure unless the statements to which deemed cost was applied in establishing opening balances are presented for comparative purposes. One respondent requested clarification on what is meant by first reporting period in relation to interim reporting. The first reporting period would be the first financial statement year end that an unreserved assertion is made. The Board does not believe this would include interim financial statements that presently are unaudited and do not include note disclosures. One respondent requested that the Board consider adding a requirement for the amount of the deemed cost to be disclosed. The Board considered carefully the disclosures that would provide the most meaningful information when developing the Statement. Considering the intent and purpose of this Statement, the Board does not believe such a disclosure would add sufficient value to warrant the significant effort and costs.
- A19. During due process, three respondents requested the term “unreserved assertion” be defined. The Board revised the Statement to include a definition of the term. Additionally, a respondent suggested that certain entities’ management (such as DoD) may be required to make assertions regarding its financial information. For example, management assertions that DoD financial statements are validated as ready for audit by not later than September 30, 2017. This Statement refers to an unreserved assertion that the reporting entity’s “financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP.” Other assertions – such as being ready for an audit - may or may not accompany such an assertion. Other minor changes were made to the Statement as suggested by respondents that improved the clarity of the document and terms.



## ALTERNATIVE VALUATION METHOD

---

### Consideration of Other Accounting Standards

- A20. During deliberation on the project, the Board considered the recently issued International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) No. 33, *First Time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards*. The International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) reached several relevant conclusions with IPSAS No. 33:
- Use of deemed cost facilitates the introduction of IPSASs in a cost effective way.
  - Multiple options for deemed cost are appropriate.
  - The use of deemed cost should be restricted to those circumstances where reliable information about the historical cost of the asset is not available.
  - Use of deemed cost does not affect fair presentation.
- A21. The Board believes that it should take an approach similar to the IPSASB standard. Deemed cost is a surrogate for initial amounts and an acceptable valuation method for opening balances for inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials. Use of deemed cost is intended to provide a cost-effective approach to the adoption of SFFAS 3 where historical records and systems do not support such balances.

### Alternative Valuation Method for Opening Balances

- A22. A reporting entity may use deemed cost as an alternative valuation method in establishing opening account balances for inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials addressed in SFFAS 3 for the reporting period that the reporting entity first makes an unreserved assertion that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP.
- A23. This guidance is intended to provide a cost-effective approach to the adoption of SFFAS 3 where historical records and systems do not support such balances. Therefore, most often deemed cost will be based on the reporting entity's valuation method or system used for managing inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials prior to the adoption of SFFAS 3.
- A24. Large and complex reporting entities such as DoD may have used a variety of valuation methods prior to the adoption of SFFAS 3. Therefore, this Statement allows for deemed cost to include several valuation methods because the reporting entity may have components (1) using different methods simultaneously and/or (2) adopting a method permitted under SFFAS 3 at different times prior to establishing opening balances. Deemed cost may be one of or a combination of valuation methods. However, this Statement requires that the accounting for all activity after the opening balance is established comply with SFFAS 3.
- A25. Opening balances in this Statement are the balances at the beginning of the first reporting period when the entity makes an unreserved assertion that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are fairly presented in accordance with GAAP. Once established using deemed cost, opening balances are to be considered consistent with historical cost requirements of SFFAS 3.



- A26. Opening balances, established by application of this Statement, should be included in ongoing inventory valuation methods as a surrogate for the initial amounts that would have existed had a GAAP valuation method been used. Further, no distinction or segregation of amounts arising from the opening balances is required. For example, cost of goods sold using deemed cost need not be distinguished from cost of goods sold at historical cost under a first-in first-out approach. The purpose of this Statement is to provide an alternative valuation method for this specific situation. Absent a reliable record of transactions related to hundreds of thousands of individual types of inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials, acceptance of non-GAAP values at the transition point to SFFAS 3 compliant systems is the most cost-effective approach.
- A27. However, all activity after the opening balances for inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials are established must comply with the recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure requirements in SFFAS 3.

### Implementation by Component Reporting Entities

- A28. As stated above, complex reporting entities such as DoD may have used a variety of valuation methods prior to the adoption of SFFAS 3. Further, reporting entity components may have transitioned to an SFFAS 3 valuation method at different times; however, some components established balances for existing inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials at the time of transition using methods that were not in accord with SFFAS 3. Therefore, given the timing of the transition to an SFFAS 3 valuation methodology, opening balances for the reporting entity may be based on transitional values based on one of the other methods listed in paragraph 11 of this Statement and subsequent transactions consistent with SFFAS 3 methods. The result of combining these values is considered deemed cost.
- A29. A component reporting entity that is in the process of implementing systems that are SFFAS 3 compliant is permitted to apply this Statement at the time it makes an unreserved assertion that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP. This Statement allows component reporting entities (for example, DoD components) to make the assertion at different times. The reporting entity may make the assertion after a sufficient number of components do so. This Statement considers the opening balances and subsequent transactions of these component reporting entities as deemed cost for the consolidated reporting entity when its assertion is made.
- A30. Using the DoD example, certain DoD components may have transitioned at an earlier date to SFFAS 3 compliant systems; this allows them to assert independently of the larger DoD. DoD would make a DoD-wide assertion when a sufficient number of DoD components are compliant. While a DoD component's "deemed cost" opening balance might be earlier than the DoD-wide opening balance, the consolidation of the various methods would be DoD's opening balance deemed cost at the beginning of the period DoD was able to make an unreserved assertion on its financial statements or one or more line items addressed by this Statement.
- A31. Considering the flexibility allowed with the Statement, reporting entities should ensure they are ready to make an unreserved assertion that their financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are fairly presented prior to making the election

since it may only be made once. A complex entity should work with its components to ensure the most appropriate method allowed by this Statement is selected. Further, reporting entities should ensure issues such as supporting documentation for opening balances established are addressed and validated through sampling or other means, including consideration of any audit findings or conclusion affecting the reliability of the valuation, prior to making the unreserved assertion. The importance of a reporting entity being prepared to make the unreserved assertion is critical because the election may only be made once. For example, if a reporting entity makes an unreserved assertion regarding the FY 2018 beginning balances, the reporting entity must be able to support the valuation, in all material respects. If the audit for FY 2018 determines that the valuation does not comply with the alternative valuation in all material respects, the reporting entity then would need to:

- a. continue in subsequent years to correct or support the valuation as of the beginning of FY 2018, or
- b. accept a modified audit report until the reporting entity demonstrates compliance with SFFAS 3 (as amended), in all material respects.

## DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

---

A32. The election to apply the provisions of this Statement (deemed cost in establishing opening balances for inventory, OM&S, or stockpile materials) should be disclosed in the financial statements in the first reporting period in which the reporting entity makes an unreserved assertion that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by this Statement, are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP. The reporting entity should also disclose a description of what valuation method(s) deemed cost is based on, but no disclosure of amounts valued at deemed cost is required.

A33. The Board discussed that, with time, the valuation of inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials will not be materially different than historical cost because the older inventory may be consumed. If reporting entities are able to document that turnover rates for inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials are such that the opening balance valuation is at historical cost, a reference to deemed cost would not be required. This Statement, however, does not impose a requirement that reporting entities engage in an effort to conclude that the use of deemed cost is no longer necessary.

## BOARD APPROVAL

---

A34. This Statement was approved **[unanimously.]** Written ballots are available for public inspection at the FASAB's offices.

## APPENDIX B: ABBREVIATIONS

---

DoD	Department of Defense
ED	Exposure draft
FASAB	Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board
GAAP	Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
IPSAS	International Public Sector Accounting Standards
IPSASB	International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board
LAC	Latest Acquisition Cost
OM&S	Operating materials and supplies
SFFAC	Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts
SFFAS	Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards

## APPENDIX C: GLOSSARY

---

**Deemed Cost**—Amount used as a surrogate for initial amounts that otherwise would be required to establish opening balances.

**Opening Balances**—Account balances that exist at the beginning of the reporting period. Opening balances are based upon the closing balances of the prior period and reflect the effects of transactions and events of prior periods and accounting policies applied in the prior period. Opening balances also include matters requiring disclosure that existed at the beginning of the period, such as contingencies and commitments.<sup>17</sup>

**Unreserved Assertion**—An unconditional statement.

---

<sup>17</sup> Adopted from AU-C 510, *Opening Balances – Initial Audit Engagements, Including Reaudit Engagements* (AICPA Professional Standards).

# APPENDIX D: AMENDMENTS TO SFFAS 3

---



### **FASAB Board Members**

Tom L. Allen, Chair

Robert F. Dacey

Michael H. Granof

Christina Ho

Sam M. McCall

Mark Reger

D. Scott Showalter

Graylin E. Smith

Harold I. Steinberg

### **FASAB Staff**

Wendy M. Payne, Executive Director

Melissa L. Batchelor

### **Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board**

441 G Street NW, Suite 6814

Mail Stop 6H19

Washington, DC 20548

Telephone 202-512-7350

FAX 202-512-7366

[www.fasab.gov](http://www.fasab.gov)

---

## Inventory

17. **Definition.** "Inventory" is tangible personal property that is (1) held for sale, (2) in the process of production for sale, or (3) to be consumed in the production of goods for sale or in the provision of services for a fee. The term "held for sale" shall be interpreted to include items for sale or transfer to (1) entities outside the federal government, or (2) other federal entities. The principal objective of the sale or transfer of inventory is to provide a product or service for a fee that generally recovers full cost or an identified portion of the cost. "Other federal entities" may include entities within the same organization/agency. Sales transactions may be executed through transfer of funds between federal entities; it is not essential that the transaction be an exchange of goods for cash or cash equivalents. In addition, inventory may be acquired through donation or barter. Inventory excludes some other assets held for sale, such as (1) stockpile materials, (2) seized and forfeited property, (3) foreclosed property, and (4) goods held under price support and stabilization programs. These items may be sold; however, the purpose of acquiring them is not to provide a product or a service for a fee.
18. Inventory shall be categorized as (1) inventory held for sale, (2) inventory held in reserve for future sale, (3) excess, obsolete and unserviceable inventory, or (4) inventory held for repair. These categories are defined in paragraphs 17, 27, 29, and 32 respectively.
19. **Recognition.** Inventory shall be recognized when title passes to the purchasing entity or when the goods are delivered to the purchasing entity. Upon sale (when the title passes or the goods are delivered) or upon use in the provision of a service, the related expense shall be recognized and the cost of those goods shall be removed from inventory. Delivery or constructive delivery shall be based on the terms of the contract regarding shipping and/or delivery.
- ~~20. Valuation. Inventory shall be valued at either (1) historical cost or (2) latest acquisition cost.~~
20. Valuation. Inventory shall be valued at either (1) historical cost or (2) a method that reasonably approximates historical cost.
21. ~~(1)~~ Historical cost shall include all appropriate purchase, transportation and production costs incurred to bring the items to their current condition and location. Any abnormal costs, such as excessive handling or rework costs, shall be charged to operations of the period. Donated inventory shall be valued at its fair value at the time of donation. Inventory acquired through exchange of nonmonetary assets (e.g., barter) shall be valued at the fair value of the asset received at the time of the exchange. Any difference between the recorded amount of the asset surrendered and the fair value of the asset received shall be recognized as a gain or a loss.
22. The first-in, first-out (FIFO); weighted average; or moving average cost flow assumptions may be applied in arriving at the historical cost of ending inventory and cost of goods sold. In addition, any other valuation method may be used if the results reasonably approximate those of one of the above historical cost methods ~~(e.g., a standard cost system).~~
- ~~23. (2) The latest acquisition cost method provides that the last invoice price<sup>2</sup> (i.e., the specific item's actual cost used in setting the current year stabilized standard [sales] price) be applied to all like units held including those units acquired through donation or nonmonetary exchange. The inventory shall be revalued periodically but at least at the end of each fiscal year. Revaluation results in recognition of unrealized holding gains/losses<sup>3</sup> in the ending inventory value. Upon adjustment for unrealized holding gains/losses, the latest acquisition cost method then results in an approximation of historical cost.~~



~~24. An allowance for unrealized holding gains/losses in inventory shall be established to capture these gains/losses. The ending balance of this allowance shall be the cumulative difference between the historical cost, based on estimated or actual valuation, and the latest acquisition cost of ending inventory. The balance shall be adjusted each time the inventory balance is adjusted. The adjustment necessary to bring the allowance to the appropriate balance shall be a component of cost of goods sold for the period as described below.~~

~~25. The cost of goods sold for the period shall be computed as follows:~~

~~Beginning inventory at beginning of the period latest acquisition cost  
less: beginning allowance for unrealized holding gains/losses  
plus: actual purchases  
Cost of Goods Available for Sale  
less: ending inventory at end of the period latest acquisition cost  
plus: ending allowance for unrealized holding gains/losses  
Cost of Goods Sold~~

<sup>2</sup>This unit value is referred to as the latest acquisition cost for the remainder of this standard.

<sup>3</sup>"Holding gains (or losses)" result from holding assets in periods of changing prices. Under historical cost methods, holding gains (or losses) are not separately recognized even though they exist. Under the latest acquisition cost method, holding gains (or losses) will be recognized in the valuation of inventory since that value is adjusted periodically to present the more current latest acquisition costs. These gains or losses are unrealized holding gains or losses. "Unrealized" refers to any gain or loss associated with inventory still held by the entity. "Realization" of the holding gain or loss occurs only when an item of inventory is sold.

---

~~26. **Exception to Valuation.** Valuing inventories at expected net realizable value is acceptable if there is (1) an inability to determine approximate costs, (2) immediate marketability at quoted prices, and (3) unit interchangeability (e.g., petroleum reserves). Application of this exception may result in inventories being valued at greater than historical cost.~~

~~**Valuation Method for Opening Balances and Exceptions to Valuation.**~~

~~a. **Alternative Valuation Method for Opening Balances.**<sup>1</sup> Deemed cost<sup>2</sup> is an acceptable valuation method for opening balances of inventory, operating materials and supplies (OM&S), and stockpile materials when a reporting entity is presenting financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) 48, *Opening Balances for Inventory, Operating Materials and Supplies, and Stockpile Materials*, following generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) promulgated by the FASAB either (1) for the first-time or (2) after a period during which existing systems could not provide the information necessary for producing such GAAP-based financial statements without use of the alternative valuation method. The following should be considered in applying an alternative valuation method:~~

~~i. The alternative valuation method may only be applied in establishing opening~~

---

<sup>1</sup> Opening balances are account balances that exist at the beginning of the reporting period. Opening balances are based upon the closing balances of the prior period and reflect the effects of transactions and events of prior periods and accounting policies applied in the prior period. Opening balances also include matters requiring disclosure that existed at the beginning of the period, such as contingencies and commitments.

<sup>2</sup> Deemed cost is an amount used as a surrogate for initial amounts that otherwise would be required to establish opening balances.

balances for the reporting period that the reporting entity, taken as a whole, makes an unreserved assertion<sup>3</sup> that its financial statements, or one or more line items addressed by SFFAS 48, are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP.

ii. The application of this method based on the second condition specified above is available once per reporting entity.

iii. Reporting entities that meet either condition in paragraph 26a. and elect to apply the alternative valuation method in establishing opening balances permitted by SFFAS 48 are subject to the reporting requirements under paragraph 13 of Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards 21: *Reporting Corrections of Errors and Changes in Accounting Principles.*

iv. Because the reporting entity may have multiple component reporting entities using various valuation methods simultaneously, deemed cost should be based on one, or a combination, of the following valuation methods:<sup>4</sup>

- a) Standard price (selling price)<sup>5</sup> or fair value<sup>6</sup>
- b) Latest Acquisition Cost (LAC) Method<sup>7</sup>
- c) Replacement cost<sup>8</sup>
- d) Estimated historical cost (initial amount)
- e) Actual historical cost (initial amount)

v. Disclosure requirements—A reporting entity electing to apply deemed cost in establishing opening balances for inventory, OM&S, or stockpile materials should disclose this fact and describe the method used in the first reporting period in which the reporting entity makes an unreserved assertion that its financial statements, or one or more line items are presented fairly in accordance with GAAP. Financial statements, or as applicable, reports on line items, of subsequent periods need not repeat this disclosure unless the statements for which deemed cost was applied in establishing opening balances are presented for comparative purposes. No disclosure of the distinction or breakout of amount of deemed cost of inventory, OM&S, or stockpile materials included in the opening balance is required.

b. **Exceptions to Valuation.** An exception for reporting inventory, OM&S, and stockpile materials at net realizable value is available for agricultural, mineral, and other products (e.g. petroleum) with all the following criteria:

i. Units of which are interchangeable,

<sup>3</sup> An unreserved assertion is an unconditional statement.

<sup>4</sup> The methods are not listed in order of preference.

<sup>5</sup> The latest known representative acquisition cost plus authorized cost recovery rate for each item of inventory and related property. This is established annually and is often referred to as selling price. Selling price and fair value may or may not be identical due to the intragovernmental nature of some sales.

<sup>6</sup> Fair value is the amount at which an asset or liability could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. (SFFAC 7, par. 38)

<sup>7</sup> The LAC Method provides that all like units that are held be valued at the invoice price of the most recent like item purchased, less any discounts, plus any additional costs incurred to bring the item to a form and location suitable for its intended use. *FASAB Handbook Glossary as of June 30, 2014*

<sup>8</sup> Replacement cost is the amount required for an entity to replace the remaining service potential of an existing asset in a current transaction at the reporting date, including the amount that the entity would receive from disposing of the asset at the end of its useful life. (SFFAC 7, par. 46)

- ii. Units of which have immediate marketability.
- iii. Units for which appropriate costs may be difficult to obtain.

---

## Other Categories of Inventory

27. **Inventory Held in Reserve for Future Sale.** Inventory stocks may be maintained because they are not readily available in the market or because there is more than a remote chance that they will eventually be needed (although not necessarily in the normal course of operations). These stocks shall be classified as inventory held in reserve for future sale. Inventory held in reserve for future sale shall be valued using the same basis as inventory held for sale in normal operations. The value of inventory held in reserve for future sale shall be either (1) included in the inventory line item on the face of the financial statements with separate disclosure in footnotes or (2) shown as a separate line item on the face of the financial statements.
28. The criteria considered by management in identifying inventory held in reserve for future sale shall be disclosed. **Examples** of factors to be considered in developing the criteria are all relevant costs associated with holding these items (including the storage and handling costs), (2) the expected replacement cost when needed, (3) the time required to replenish inventory, (4) the potential for deterioration or pilferage, and (5) the likelihood that a supply of the items will be available in the future. The above listed disclosure requirements are not applicable to the U.S. government-wide financial statements. SFFAS 32 provides for disclosures applicable to the U.S. government-wide financial statements.
29. **Excess, Obsolete, and Unserviceable Inventory.** "Excess inventory" is inventory stock that exceeds the demand expected in the normal course of operations because the amount on hand is more than can be sold in the foreseeable future and that does not meet management's criteria to be held in reserve for future sale. "Obsolete inventory" is inventory that is no longer needed due to changes in technology, laws, customs, or operations. "Unserviceable inventory" is damaged inventory that is more economical to dispose of than to repair. The category "excess, obsolete and unserviceable inventory" shall be either (1) included in the inventory line item on the face of the financial statements with separate disclosure in footnotes or (2) shown as a separate line item on the face of the financial statements.
30. Such inventory shall be valued at its expected net realizable value. The difference between the carrying amount of the inventory before identification as excess, obsolete or unserviceable and its expected net realizable value shall be recognized as a loss (or gain) and either separately reported or disclosed. Any subsequent adjustments to its net realizable value or any loss (or gain) upon disposal shall also be recognized as a loss (or gain). The U.S. government-wide financial statements need not separately report or disclose the difference between the carrying amount of the inventory and its expected net realizable value.
31. Management shall develop and disclose in the financial statements its criteria for identifying excess, obsolete and unserviceable inventory.
32. **Inventory Held for Repair.** Inventory held for repair may be treated in one of two ways: (1) the allowance method or (2) the direct method.
- (1) Under the allowance method, inventory held for repair shall be valued at the same value as a serviceable item. However, an allowance for repairs contra-asset account (i.e., repair allowance) shall be established. The annual (or other period) credit(s) required to bring the repair allowance to the current estimated cost of repairs shall be recognized as current period operating expenses. As the repairs are made the cost of repairs shall be charged (debited) to the allowance for repairs account.

33. (2) Under the direct method, inventory held for repair shall be valued at the same value as a serviceable item less the estimated repair costs. When the repair is actually made, the cost of the repair shall be capitalized in the inventory account up to the value of a serviceable item. Any difference between the initial estimated repair cost and the actual repair cost shall be either debited or credited to the repair expense account.
34. Transition to either of these two methods may result in recognizing an accumulated amount of needed repairs that were not previously accounted for. To avoid overstating repair expense for the first period that repair expense is accrued, prior period amounts are to be separately identified or estimated. The estimated amount to repair inventory that is attributable to prior periods shall be credited to the repair allowance under the repair allowance method or to the inventory account under the direct method and reported as an adjustment to equity.

### Disclosure Requirements

- 35.
- General composition of inventory.
  - Basis for determining inventory values; including the valuation method and any cost flow assumptions.
  - Changes from prior year's accounting methods; if any.
  - Balances for each of the following categories of inventory; inventory held for current sale, inventory held in reserve for future sale, excess, obsolete and unserviceable inventory, and inventory held for repair unless otherwise presented on the financial statements.
  - Restrictions on the sale of material.
  - The decision criteria for identifying the category to which inventory is assigned.
  - Changes in the criteria for identifying the category to which inventory is assigned
  - The above listed disclosure requirements are not applicable to the U.S. government-wide financial statements. SFFAS 32 provides for disclosures applicable to the U.S. government-wide financial statements for these activities.

The provisions of this statement need not be applied to immaterial items.

---

## Operating Materials And Supplies

36. **Definition.** "Operating materials and supplies" consist of tangible personal property to be consumed in normal operations. Excluded are (1) goods that have been acquired for use in constructing real property or in assembling equipment to be used by the entity, (2) stockpile materials, (3) goods held under price stabilization programs, (4) foreclosed property, (5) seized and forfeited property, and (6) inventory.
37. Operating materials and supplies shall be categorized as (1) operating materials and supplies held for use, (2) operating materials and supplies held in reserve for future use, or (3) excess, obsolete and unserviceable operating materials and supplies. These categories are defined in paragraphs 36, 45, and 47 respectively.
38. **Recognition.** The consumption method of accounting for the recognition of expenses shall be applied for operating materials and supplies. Operating materials and supplies shall be recognized and reported as assets when produced or purchased. "Purchased" is defined as when title passes to the purchasing entity. If the contract between the buyer and the seller is silent regarding passage of title, title is assumed to pass upon delivery of the goods. Delivery or constructive delivery shall be based on the terms of the contract regarding shipping and/or delivery.

39. The cost of goods shall be removed from operating materials and supplies (i.e., the asset account) and reported as an operating expense in the period they are issued to an end user for consumption in normal operations.
40. If (1) operating materials and supplies are not significant amounts, (2) they are in the hands of the end user for use in normal operations, or (3) it is not cost-beneficial to apply the consumption method of accounting, then the purchases method may be applied to operating materials and supplies. The purchases method provides that operating materials and supplies be expensed when purchased.
41. An end user is any component of a reporting entity that obtains goods for direct use in the component's normal operations. Any component of a reporting entity, including contractors, that maintains or stocks operating materials and supplies for future issuance shall **not** be considered an end user.
42. **Valuation Under the Consumption Method.** Operating materials and supplies shall be valued on the basis of historical cost or on a basis that reasonably approximates historical cost. The provisions of paragraph 26, Alternative Valuation Method for Opening Balances, extend to Operating Material and Supplies.
43. Historical cost shall include all appropriate purchase and production costs incurred to bring the items to their current condition and location. Any abnormal costs, such as excessive handling or rework costs, shall be charged to operations of the period. Donated operating materials and supplies shall be valued at their fair value at the time of donation. Operating materials and supplies acquired through exchange of nonmonetary assets (e.g., barter) shall be valued at the fair value of the asset received at the time of the exchange. Any difference between the recorded amount of the asset surrendered and the fair value of the asset received shall be recognized as a gain or a loss.
44. The first-in, first-out (FIFO); weighted average; or moving average cost flow assumptions shall be applied in arriving at the historical cost of ending operating materials and supplies and cost of goods consumed. ~~In addition, any other valuation method may be used if the results reasonably approximate those of one of the above historical cost methods (e.g., a standard cost or latest acquisition cost system).~~

---

### Other Categories of Operating Materials and Supplies

45. **Operating Materials and Supplies Held in Reserve for Future Use.** Operating materials and supplies stocks may be maintained because they are not readily available in the market or because there is more than a remote chance that they will eventually be needed, although not necessarily in the normal course of operations. These stocks shall be classified as operating materials and supplies held in reserve for future use. Operating materials and supplies held in reserve for future use shall be valued using the same basis as operating materials and supplies held for use in normal operations. The value of operating materials and supplies held in reserve for future use shall be either (1) included in the operating materials and supplies line item on the face of the financial statements with separate disclosure in footnotes or (2) shown as a separate line item on the face of the financial statements. Such materials and supplies shall be valued the same as operating materials and supplies held for use in normal operations.
46. The criteria considered by management in identifying operating materials and supplies held in reserve for future use shall be disclosed. Examples of factors to be considered in developing the criteria are (1) all relevant costs associated with holding these items (including the storage and

handling costs); (2) the expected replacement cost when needed; (3) the time required to replenish operating materials and supplies; (4) the potential for deterioration or pilferage; and (5) the likelihood that a supply of the item will be available in the future.

47. **Excess, Obsolete, and Unserviceable Operating Materials and Supplies.** “Excess operating materials and supplies” are operating materials and supplies stocks that exceed the amount expected to be used in normal operations because the amount on hand is more than can be used in the foreseeable future and that do not meet management’s criteria to be held in reserve for future use. “Obsolete operating materials and supplies” are operating materials and supplies that are no longer needed due to changes in technology, laws, customs, or operations. “Unserviceable operating materials and supplies” are operating materials and supplies that are physically damaged and cannot be consumed in operations. The category “excess, obsolete and unserviceable operating materials and supplies” shall be either (1) included in the operating materials and supplies line item on the face of the financial statements with separate disclosure in footnotes or (2) shown as a separate line item on the face of the financial statements.
48. Such operating materials and supplies shall be valued at their estimated net realizable value. The difference between the carrying amount of the operating materials and supplies before identification as excess, obsolete or unserviceable and their estimated net realizable value shall be recognized as a loss (or gain) and either reported separately or disclosed. Any subsequent adjustments to their estimated net realizable value or any loss (or gain) upon disposal shall also be recognized as a loss (or gain).
49. Management shall develop and disclose in the financial statements its criteria for identifying excess, obsolete, and unserviceable operating materials and supplies.

#### **Disclosure Requirements**

- 50.
- General composition of operating materials and supplies.
  - Basis for determining operating materials and supplies values; including valuation method and any cost flow assumptions.
  - Changes from prior year’s accounting methods, if any.
  - Balances for each of the categories of operating materials and supplies described above.
  - Restrictions on the use of material.
  - Decision criteria for identifying the category to which operating materials and supplies are assigned.
  - Changes in the criteria for identifying the category to which operating materials and supplies are assigned.
  - The above listed disclosure requirements are not applicable to the U.S. government-wide financial statements. SFFAS 32 provides for disclosures applicable to the U.S. government-wide financial statements for these activities.

The provisions of this statement need not be applied to immaterial items.

---

## **Stockpile Materials**

51. **Definition.** “Stockpile materials” are strategic and critical materials held due to statutory requirements for use in national defense, conservation or national emergencies. They are not held with the intent of selling in the ordinary course of business. The following items are specifically excluded from stockpile materials: (1) items that are held by an agency for sale or use in normal

operations (see proposed standards for inventory and operating materials and supplies), (2) items that are held for use in the event of an agency's operating emergency or contingency (see proposed standard for operating materials and supplies), and (3) materials acquired to support market prices (see proposed standard for goods held under price support and stabilization programs).

52. **Recognition.** The consumption method of accounting for the recognition of expense shall be applied for stockpile materials. These materials shall be recognized as assets and reported when produced or purchased. "Purchase" is defined as the date that title passes to the purchasing entity. If the contract between the buyer and the seller is silent regarding passage of title, title is assumed to pass upon delivery of the goods. The cost of stockpile materials shall be removed from stockpile materials and reported as an operating expense when issued for use or sale.

~~53. **Valuation.** Stockpile materials shall be valued on the basis of historical cost or on a basis that reasonably approximates historical cost. The provisions of paragraph 26, Alternative Valuation Method for Opening Balances, extend to Stockpile Materials. Historical cost shall include all appropriate purchase, transportation and production costs incurred to bring the items to their current condition and location. Any abnormal costs, such as excessive handling or rework costs, shall be charged to operations of the period. The first-in, first-out (FIFO); weighted average; or moving average cost flow assumptions shall be applied in arriving at the historical cost of stockpile materials. In addition, any other valuation method may be used if the results reasonably approximate those of one of the above historical cost methods (e.g., a standard cost or latest acquisition cost system).~~

~~53.~~

54. **Exception to Valuation.** The carrying amount of materials that have suffered (1) a permanent decline in value to an amount less than their cost or (2) damage or decay shall be reduced to the expected net realizable value of the materials. The decline in value shall be recognized as a loss or an expense<sup>4</sup> in the period in which it occurs.

<sup>4</sup>The decline in value shall be considered an expense if it is an expected decline in the normal course of operations.

Formatted: Body Text, Right: 0.14", Line spacing: Multiple 0.98 li, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 26 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0" + Indent at: 0.25", Tab stops: 0.42", Left

55. **Held for Sale.** When stockpile materials are authorized to be sold, those materials shall be disclosed as stockpile materials held for sale. The materials authorized for sale shall be valued using the same basis used before they were authorized for sale. Any difference between the carrying amount of the stockpile materials held for sale and their estimated selling price shall be disclosed. The cost of stockpile materials shall be removed from stockpile materials and reported as cost of goods sold when sold. Any gain (or loss) upon disposal shall be recognized as a gain (or loss) at that time. The U.S. government-wide financial statements need not separately report or disclose any difference between the carrying amount of the stockpile materials held for sale and their estimated selling price.

#### **Disclosure Requirements**

56.

- General composition of stockpile materials.
- Basis for valuing stockpile materials; including valuation method and any cost flow assumption.
- Changes from prior year's accounting methods, if any.
- Restrictions on the use of materials.
- Balances of stockpile materials in each category described above (i.e., stockpile materials and stockpile materials held for sale).
- Decision criteria for categorizing stockpile materials as held for sale.
- Changes in criteria for categorizing stockpile materials as held for sale.
- The above listed disclosure requirements are not applicable to the U.S. government-wide financial statements. SFFAS 32 provides for disclosures applicable to the U.S. government-wide financial statements for these activities.

**The provisions of this statement need not be applied to immaterial items.**





Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board

---

Date: September 25, 2015

To: Members of the Board

From: Wendy M. Payne, Executive Director

Subject: **Ballot for Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards 48, *Opening Balances for Inventory, Operating Materials and Supplies, and Stockpile Materials***

The following is a ballot for SFFAS 48. Please enter your name in the space provided below and indicate your approval or disapproval. Please e-mail the ballot to [paynew@fasab.gov](mailto:paynew@fasab.gov). Alternatively, you may fax the signed ballot to 202 512-7366.

Ballots are due by October 21, 2015. Members not responding by October 27th will be considered to have abstained. If you decide to write a dissent, please notify staff immediately and provide your dissent as soon as possible but no later than October 7th. Any dissents received will be circulated to other members as soon as possible so that they may consider the views of the dissenting member.

Board Member: \_\_\_\_\_

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_\_ I approve the subject SFFAS

\_\_\_\_\_ I do not approve the subject SFFAS